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Personal Note and Credits

| consider the chronicles as compiled by Miss Grete Ballin tthhéenly known recording of the of
events during the Hitler years 1933-1943 in the Jewish communityhEUé Ballin chronicles are
a historic document worth a place in the annals of the destructithre dlewish community Fuerth
and other Jewish communities in Germany.
| am very indebted to Mr. Moshe Heinemann for providing me with his father's book
"Geschichte der Juden in Fuerth”, which made this work possible.
| am deeply grateful to Mr. Gerhard Jochem for his outstanding supploelping me and creating
this work on theRIJO Web Site.
| appreciate the great help provided by my good friends Faye and Karl Neubert.
| fully recognize the historical input provided by:

e Mrs. Monika Berthold-Hilpert, Juedisches Museum Fuerth,

e Dr. Edith Raim, Institut fuer Zeitgeschichte in Munich,

e Mr. Harold Reissner,

e Dr. Helmut Richter, head of Fuerth Municipal Archives, and

e Dr. Herbert Schott, Wuerzburg State Archives.
My thanks to Mr. Fred Goldman, Ms. Kitt Heimann and Mr. Frank Harrighigir support during the
early stages of this work.
Willie Glaser
September 2004 / January 2005, S. Laurent Quebec, Canada




Foreword by Hugo Heinemann

"The history of the Jews in Fuerth" has been documented extensiwéty in part is also the foun
dation on which this document is based. However, the circumstancesefdateounts are unique.
They were written in 1943 by order of the secrete state pNlitemberg-Fuerth (its purpose could
not be ascertained). As a result only the important moments fro@ebehichte der Juden in Fuerth
[The story of the Jews in Fuerth] from 1939-1943 could be hinted at. Iinwiag the events played
out and the effects, can not be described in detail. The descriptioa wight of November 9 and 10
alone, with its consequences for the Jews, or the transports to the east and to Tiaeltes@us fill
volumes. Only very few of the people involved ever returned, they are the ones to bess. witne
This chronicle was assembled by the former and last secretary efittst Lommunity Fuerth, Miss
Grete Ballin, who herself became a victim of the National Socialistraitators.

For the development of the history of the Jews in Fuerth only socamnhunity statistics and other
materials were available. The largest portion of the filethefprevious Jewish community Fuerth
(Israelitische Kultusgemeinde Fuerth) was lost when the communitg$dasated in the Schulhof
(Synagogue square) were destroyed in November 1938 by fire. Quitgratatistics were used again
beginning 1939.

The Chronicles

Anti-Semitic street sign in Fuerth after January 183. The German text "Juden sind unser Unglueck"
means "The Jews are our misfortune".

(Photo: Fuerth Municipal Archives)



1933

The seizure of power by the NSDAP (Nationalsozialistische d2bet Arbeiterpartei), the National
Socialist German Worker Party, brought about a total change in goitynlife and in the lives of
every Jew. In the course of the enforced conformity [Gleichsoig@lt Jews were removed from the
public, sport and other clubs, state positions, theatre, lecture andtdusitseand places of anais
ment. By necessity, the Jews were forced into small ciralesyt of mental ghetto, which revolved
around the community house as it existed before the equal rights law.

During this time, Dr. Salomon Levy, who became the new syndicf[otagistrate] on February 28,
1933, proved to be of invaluable help. Under his steadfast and purposefushgadee whole tenor
of the community changed, which up to now had mainly served theoteigieeds of its members,
instead it developed into a center for the social and intellddialf the Jews. A library and reading
room was installed and space was set aside for lectures amdusttigons. An advisory office was
opened for people wishing to emigrate, change profession , look for a new ijpmeed of assi
tance in other ways. The advisory office in Fuerth also servedntadler country communities.
Jewish lawyers supplied legal advice to the indigents free of cladgeational courses in language,
commerce, home economics and dress and pattern making were afgmeghdre people for new
occupations and to advance their chances for emigration. Coneetiscéures with entertaining and
educational topics were organized, many of which took place in theayumagAn extensive library
and a reading room was available to members including those frosmgdecountry communities.
The community tried to support its members with economical anduspihielp, which was needed
more than ever.

Because of rising unemployment amongst the Jews of Fuertheth@nds on the welfare center of
the community became a great challenge, the only help waadtiices by the Jews of Fuerth and
the donations by Jews of Fuerth who emigrated.

Ongoing care for the sick became a necessity. More tharitevas necessary to look after doctors
and medications. Funds had to be found to take care of convalescent caie ¢bildien and adults,
as well for emigration aid, which was centralized in Fuerth for northern Bavari

"Help and Reconstruction”, a relief organization, aided in the regrgugd emigration of Jews. It
supported those who were facing changes and were ready t@emhgrt it also supplied the needy
with sufficient money to buy provisions and pay for the cost of imatiign. From the funds of this
relief organization, a series of children transports ("Kindespart”) to America, England, France,
Holland, Belgium, Sweden and Palestine was arranged. The laaesiablish the career profession
(RGBI [Reichsgesetzblatt] | [Vol 1], p [page] 175) was publishedil 7, 1933. It called for officials
of non-Aryan ancestry to retire, exemptions only applied to personsh wiaice employed as off
cials since August 1, 1914, were front line soldiers or those whtserdaand sons fell during the
world war.

The same day a law was passed, as to who was to be admitiedbtr in order to repeal the admi
sion of non-Aryan lawyers retroactive to September 30, 1933. Exemptiorsvala to the same
extent as the law to re-establish the career profession.

(RGBI I, p 188)

It was decreed with the law from April 22, 1933 regarding the aiomgo the profession of patent
lawyers and attorneys, that non-Aryan patent lawyers on thefligatent lawyers are to be tarm
nated by September 9, 1933. Exemptions are permitted on the basis'lodivthto re-establish the
career official profession”. (RGBI I, p 217).

At a meeting of the board and inner administrative council on June 21,il92®& announced that
from now on police permission would have to be obtained for any future gathering.

The "National Association of Jewish Front Line Soldiers” ("Rdidnsl juedischer Frontsoldaten')
founded a sport club on June 9, 1933, in order to give young Jewish sportsmenleiad, atho had
been excluded from German clubs, a chance to continue their physinaties and training. The
necessity of such an undertaking was proven by the fact that ef@m® Ithe establishment of the
club on June 21,1933, 140 adults and adolescents had signed up for membership.idipetipart



and interest continued as long as the club existed.

In August 1933,Jews were no longer permitted to attend the local river bathitigdac

At the end of 1933,the national association of Jewish front line soldéresgiven the task of taking
care of their own war invalids.

A new law was passed limiting the school attendance of Jewishezhio 1.5% of the entire student
body. This did not apply to children whose fathers were front line ssldiairing 1933, this edict
resulted in an increase of Jewish students, who came from o#dmmgr schools or arrived from
area communities to attend the Jewish elementary school and the Jewish higliRsedisohule).
During a meeting on December 3, 1933 the corporate body of the adatioisapproved the estab
lishment of a loan association.

1934

In January 1934, this project took shape and a district loan associai@stablished to grant loans
for productive purposes to the members of the Jewish communities who are meniberalobinate
district Fuerth. This year saw the installation of sewer pipethe property at Blumenstrasse 31,
where Jewish students were housed. An extension was added to accomwitedafi@cilities and
other structural improvements were undertaken. At that time thebershp of the congregation
remained at 1500.

1935

At a meeting of the board and the administrative council, it wasunced that the city of Fuerth
would only permit burials at reserved graves in the Jewish cemeétace all these plots were filled,
no further burial sites could be added.

On April 1,1935, the membership in the community stood at 1580. The numberish &wdents
was 238.

The law from May 21, 1936, excluded Jews from army service (RGBI I, p 609).

On September 15, 1935, a new law was passed "For the protectionnodrGelood and German
honour". The first decree to implement this order (RGBI 1S. 1145) hdoltbeing drastic cons
quences for German Jews:

"Jews may remain members of the state, but not of the r&aioh). They are to forfeit their voting
rights and can no longer hold any official position”.

Marriage between Jews and citizens of German or simiterdbis prohibited, as well as marriages
between Jews and those of mixed marriages Il grade are prohilawagh civil servants are to retire
by December 31, 1935.

Aryan domestics are no longer permitted to work for Jewisliigamunless they are past the age of
35, nor can any new help be employed, but may be re-hired upon completion of the 45th birthday.
In August 1935, additional construction in the Jewish hospital took placecotimeyard building
was completely renovated with a mechanical laundry.

In line with other Jewish communities, the Jewish community Fdertie first time carried out the
winter aids program ("Winterhilfe") during the winter of 1935/38@ding to the guide lines pe
mitted by the national representative for the winter aids pnogneagreement with the central social
welfare center for German Jews. The assistance provided for negpolg pvas in the form of money,
food and coal vouchers.

According to the decree issued December 13, 1935, Jews were profidmtecharrying out the law
profession.




1936

According to a ministerial resolution issued July 31, 1936, no instructithsa religious curricular
is permitted in elementary and high schools. Jewish schools atagsgecial status for religious
education in Jewish schools.

On October 13, 1936, the Jewish sport and gymnastics club, which was fonri83#iby the &
tional Association of Jewish Frontline Soldiers, was disbanded beaacseling to an official id
rective of October 15, 1936, only neutral Jewish gymnastic and sport clubs will bditsutr
October 15, 1936 the "Jewish Sport Club Fuerth was founded. On December 1, 193Bospals
and a hall build with corrugated iron sheeting was rented in the upper Karolinenstrasse

1937

The termination of membership of the officials of the Jewish conityin the Bavarian social ben

fit insurance plan took effect on March 31, 1937. As of April 1, 1937 theiafficeceived social
benefit insurance coverage by the association of Jewish comrauniBavaria, which existed until
its dissolution on December 31,1939.

It was pointed out in a decree issued by the national ministedwfation about the legal status of
German Jews in the German school system, that Jewish schookrhidre permitted to attend
German elementary schools if no Jewish schools were availabileati case collective classes for
Jewish pupils have to be set up. Regarding the admission of Jewdsmtstin alternative schools,
the determination of the law against crowding in German schoolshighdschools is relevant,
meaning that Jewish students will only be admitted if they septeno more than 1.5% of newad
missions. Provisions have been made for prospective candidates teathang staff ("Fraenkischer
Kurier" newspaper July 15, 1937).

1938

On February 6, 1938, Jews lost all rights for reduction of income tax (Child benefits)

Beginning January 1938, the city of Fuerth no longer issued identity cards to Jews.

On March 28, 1938, a law was passed regarding the legal relationship of the JewismitpnWitith
this law, the Jewish communities and their organizations lostgdtatius as a public corporation as of
March 31, 1938 . From this point in time they have been declared amatissptaving legal capga
ity with regards to the civil law. (RGBI. | 1938/S.338).

Furthermore, with the same law the civil employees of thesbecommunities have lost their status
as civil employees.

The enrolment of the Jewish community in Fuerth in the associagster [of communities] took
place on December 15, 1939. By-laws were enacted according theeday¥ipivs of the National
Association of Jews in Germany.

On March 28, 1939, a law regarding the legal relationships of thisRleemmunities was issued
with the consequence, that government finance offices stopped colleatimgunity taxes (Church
tax), which had been previously collected since April 1, 1938. It wadetan a combined meeting
of the board and administrative council, that members of the commulnityhad been required by
church tax law to pay a church tax would also be required to maitg and country contribution,
namely:

As income tax,

15% for assessed persons,

8% for wage earners

from tax on wealth,

15% of assets,



furthermore, church money according to the community scale.

From the income, wage and asset taxes collected, 3/4 went tevitsth tommunity in Fuerth and
1/4 to the national association [Bavaria].

In April 1938, there were 176 students attending the Jewish high school and@&dts attending the
elementary school.

In a decree issued in April 1938 Jews were ordered to declarestiiee assets (RGBI |, p 414). A
notification was issued on July 23, 1938 regarding the compulsory identification cdedvigr

With the 4th decree to the law for national citizens of July 25, 1888approbation of Jewish do
tors expired. Permission to practice as physician was only pednafter the national chamber of
physicians made a proposal to the interior minister, which waxable any time. Jewish doctors
were only permitted to treat Jews. (RGBI I, p 963).

With the second decree of implementation of the law regardinggeban the family name and first
name, issued August 17, 1938, (RGBI I, S. 1044), the order was given thiadasuary 1, 1939,
Jews have to carry an additional given name, namely for male pehsofisst name Israel and for
females persons the first name Sara. In a general deoredlfe ministry of the interior (1938, Nr.
35) dated August 16, 1938, a decision was made, that German orsstd®les must use the given
name as set out in the attachment to the general decree artkethaiust use the additional given
names of "Israel" and "Sara" in all legal and business transactions.

Mr. Julius Israel Frueh, currently a member of the adminmgg&ratouncil of Fuerth, was elected on
August 15, 1938 to the board of the community. On August 4, 1938, Mr. Frueh wad oaairman
of the board of the community. He officiated as chairman of thedlidathe integration of the Je
ish community into the National Association of Jews in Germamywis the last president of the
Jewish community in Fuerth. After the integration of the commuimitp the National Association
of Jews in Germany], Mr Frueh was appointed manager of the adiratiun center Fuerth of the
district office in Bavaria.

A decree issued on September 27, 1939, forced Jews to retire froegdherofession; for legal ad
vice and representation for Jews, Jewish consultants were appointed. (RGBI I, p 1403)

During October 1938, 54 Polish Jews living in Fuerth were deported to Poland.

By the end of October and beginning of 1938 all Jews from Zirndorb#ret small country ¢o-
munities moved to Fuerth because they could no longer live in their previous residences.



')

Fuerth's main synagogue after "Kristallnacht” in November 1938

(Photo: Fuerth Municipal Archives)

On November 9, 1939, all buildings and synagogues belonging to the commuhikycated in the
Schulhof [synagogue square] were destroyed by fire. Theestae holdings of the community in
the Schulhof and the land of the two cemeteries will be accdeltiiehe city of Fuerth] on the bases
of a notarial and contractual offer of 100 mark. It was imposed onthestgyh the decree from No
vember 12,1938, regarding the restoration of the street image ishJedustrial enterprises (RGBI
[, p 1581), to restore all damages, which occurred on November 8, 9 and déovEIN 1938 to Je
ish industrial enterprises and homes. The cost of which is the réspgnsf the owners of the
Jewish industrial undertakings and home owners.
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Writing on the wall of the Jewish orphanage in Fuerh after "Kristallnacht". The entire slogan reads "Wi r lassen
Deutsche nicht von Juden morden” (We don't let Germas get killed by Jews).

(Photo: Fuerth Municipal Archives)

On November 12, 1938, a decree was issued for Jews with German Iigtregarding atonement
payments, accordingly Jews had to pay 20% of the assets, whneheperted to the government on
April 26, 1938 (RGBI I, p 1570). A further decree was issued on Novembdi938, regarding the
exclusion of Jews from German commercial activities. With dieisree, the operations of all trade
and industrial activity by Jews was prohibited (RGBI I, p 1580).

During 1938, the administration of the Jewish community was moved tautliing of the Jewish
school in the Blumenstrasse 31. Worship services were only held dewigh hospital and in the
Jewish orphanage and only according to orthodox rites.

On the basis of the decree of November 19, 1938 regarding the puldacenfer Jews (RGBI I, p
1649), the welfare for indigent Jews was transferred to the éxeisld welfare care office. From this
point on, the welfare office of the Jewish community was obligeddt@md support all needy Jews
living in Fuerth and to take care of all medical treatments, shelter, cla@hahgursing.

Starting December 2, 1938, a ban went into effect prohibiting Jews\e ta the cities of Nure-
berg and Fuerth.

A decree was issued on December 3, 1938 regarding the dispositionish dssets (RGBI I, p
1709). The law contained the following instructions: The owner of ssie@mmercial enterprise is
given a choice either to dispose of or wind up his commercial igctrurthermore, a Jew has to
relinquish his agricultural or forestry enterprises, his otharastate property or other parts of prop
erty has to be disposed of within a certain period. The disposahlogéstate requires authorization.
Jews may not acquire real estate or rights related to real estatentlegalgdealings.

The same decree established the compulsory deposit and the ban te &xgquawn or to dispose
freely of objects of gold, silver, platinum, precious stones and pearls.

Number of members of the community as of December 31, 1938: 975




1939

With the 8th decree to the National citizens law from January 17, @8@ancellation of appdin
ments as Jewish dentists, veterinarians and pharmacists was pronounced.

However, dentists could practise their profession until revoked by ithisten for the interior (RGBI

l, p 47).

According to the circular letter from the National Association Jews, this association was-ap
pointed as the central organization for all Jews in Germarytivit exception of the "Ostmark"do
cupied Austria]. The Jewish communities remain as branches dfatf@nal Association. All other
associations (clubs, foundations) with the exception of the Jewishatutganisation, the Palestine
office and the affiliated Palestine fund will be terminated.

On January 30, 1939, the first decree was published for execution ofwthredarding the legal
measures for the Jewish community associations (Regulations for thedbgflthive associations).
The third regulation arising out of the decree regarding the declaration shJesgets was published
on February 21, 1939. Accordingly, all Jews had to deliver all objedsl|df platinum, silver, g
cious stones and pearls to the public purchasing center (RGBI I, p 282).

The members of the Jewish community in Fuerth had to deliventhleiable objects to the muitc
pal loan office in Nuremberg.

In a circular letter from February 25, 1939, the National Assoadtr Jews in Germany ("National
Association” will be used in further texts) issued an ordemfgament the collection of an extrao
dinary levy (called emigration levy ["Auswandererabgabdtpm this point in time, emigrants had
to contribute to a levy, which had "the purpose to raise the meamplEment the goal of thedN
tional Association, which was emigration, schooling and social wéilath June 1939, the emagr
tion levy was raised and collected by the Jewish communityuertf. During this period, some
212,668 Mk from emigration levies were received. According to a deciss the National Asscei
tion, only the larger Jewish communities were entitled toleettdrms and collect the levies. The
Jewish community in Fuerth did not fit this category and could nototdhés levy. Therefore, dau
ing the following period the Jewish community undertook only the prepgratork and calcwat
tions, while the final agreements and the collection of leviestieasesponsibility of the districtf-o
fice in Munich. According to our records, the district office recgiaefurther 50,000 Mark in @m
gration levies from members of the Jewish community in Fuerth.

The law from April 30, 1939, regulates the rental relationship with Jews. (R@BI64)

In April 1939 the students in the Jewish elementary school numbered #8, Jewish high school
53.

The liquidation of the Jewish district loan bank was concluded on May 5, 1939.

The Jewish community established a residential hostel for 12 pensanented Jewish house in the
Lindenstrasse 22, to house Jews who had to vacate their dwellinggan Aouses. This was-a
cording to an order issued by the municipal housing office on April 30, 1938bth&eeing 9 J&-
ish dwellings. The Jewish community reconditioned the hostel at aotadtout 4000 Marks and
missing operating and furnishings objects were installed. An adratois couple attended to the
occupants for a reasonable boarding house fee. The hostel was maintained fiB4#hr

From this time on, the municipal housing office used the Jewish comnfonitiaison purposes
more frequently in matters of lodgings for Jews. The Jewasimaunity assigned an assistant to-han
dle only matters relating to shelter issues. This spe@atant had to look after the communications
with the municipal housing office and adequate accommodation for the Jewstim Fuaccordance
with the wishes of the municipal housing office to free up morelohgsland to remove Jews from
Aryan houses, the Jewish community rented more homes, which were tiecaatat the expense
of the Jewish community and were to be occupied by Jewish famiige of August 1939, shelter
was provided accordingly:



In the Friedrichstrasse 14 17 persons

At the Bahnhofsplatz 1 12 persons

At the Bahnhofsplatz 4 23 persons

In the Julienstrasse 2 9 persons

Apart from the so called "Jew houses", 21 Jews were also sldelteHindenburgstrasse 29 (which
also was designated as a "Jew House"). Contrary to the operatioa lodstel in the Lindenstrasse
22, these dwellings provided a common use of the kitchen.

During June 1939, 20 Poles [Jewish] who lived in Fuerth were deportedeXdeorted to Poland
or went abroad, the rest received an extension of their residence permit.

The 10th by-law to the national citizen law from July 4, 1939 (RGBI1097) decided basically the
following:

"The Jews will be gathered in a National Association ...

"The National Association will serve as a local branch of the Jewish conymuihit

"The National Association had the purpose to advance the emigration of Jews."

"In addition the National Association is:

1. Bearer of the Jewish school system,

2. Bearer of the free welfare work."

Effective July 1, 1939, the only levies raised by the Jewish commweity for the account of the
National Association. The calculation for the year 1939 was:

At least 25% for income tax and a 200% tax on assets.

Of the levies received as of June 30, 1939, which were shown assdneipe Jewish community,
one quarter was forwarded to the district office Bavaria in Munich.

As of July 1,1939, no more allotments were set aside for the district office.

In line with the closure of Jewish associations, the closure aletwesh sport club and the Jewish
women's association took place on July 31, 1939.

During July 1939, the Jewish community and a toy manufacturer muagiked that the manufa
turer will provide ongoing home work for Jewish women. The Jewish comymunavided a room in
the school building, in which home work could be carried out. Some of the wawored in their
own homes. This was the first small achievement for the Jesmisimunity to bring back members
of the community who were able to work into the labour force. Itrhecgaossible for a number of
employable Jewish men to work as construction workers.

On August 22, 1939, the Jewish community made a proposal to the satergtodice and the Fuerth
police department , that during the coming high holidays a liberallglaprayer service may take
place in the auditorium of the Jewish school in the Blumenstrasse 31. This proposal wasdapprov
On September 17, 1939, the director of the Jewish community received| amdar from the secret
state police in Nuremberg, that Jews must stay indoors between 8 o'clock in thg evehé o'clock
in the morning.

On September 19, 1939, Fuerth had to absorb 39 Jewish migrants from the westeragebiiang
October 1939, a further 13 migrants arrived in Fuerth and in Novembdreard® migrants arrived.
Altogether 62 Jewish migrants were referred to Fuerth, amongst them 10rchitainethe orphanage
in Esslingen, they were absorbed into the local Jewish orphanageesthef the migrants were
lodged with Jewish families. In 1940, some of the migrants weret@loeturn to their former place
of residence. The rest had to join the emigration transports in 1941/4¢ tp&bland and Riga, and
partly to Theresienstadt.

On September 24, 1939, the Jews of Fuerth received a demand to sualieradio receivers to the
police.

In a circular letter dated September 25, 1939, the Jewish commdnised its members, that-a
cording to the official order the purchases of food supplies in faneésstdesignated by the secret
state police, can only take place between 3 and 5 o'clock in theoafteon week days, with the-e
ception of Saturdays.

The Jewish schools in Fuerth: The private Jewish high school anditisd &ementary school were



taken over by the National association (Paragraph 6 of the 10th decree of the niéitienallaw).
Through the 2nd implementation decree regarding the amending of iridetion [Suehne] from
the Jews from October 13, 1939, the levy on Jewish assets to la¢t@mount of one thousandlmi
lion Reichsmark was raised from 20 % to 25 % of the assets (RGBI I, p 2059).

On October 23, 1939, the Jewish community office released by-ldnch were prepared on the
bases of the sample by-law of the National Association.

The chief of the security police and the security service $SEicherheitsdienst = security service]
from October 23, 1939, which decreed the integration of the Jewish orpharfagerth with that of
the National Association. The assets of the institution in the cobitbe year consisted of charitable
donations and memorial endowments, which were collected to rememteasdd persons. The
monies collected amounted to about 700,000 RM and were transferred totitreaNassociation.
After the integration, the institute was renamed and carried d@lakiren’s Home Fuerth of the
National Association for Jews Fuerth/Bavaria.”

On December 15, 1939, the following entry was made in the association register:

"V.R.V. - 15. 12. 39. Jewish community Fuerth, a registered associatenthFestablished with the
statutes from October 23, 1939. The chairman represents the asso@gally and non-legally.
Chairman: Julius Israel Frueh, merchant in Fuerth”.

The national minister for science, education and public education ienagné with the national
minister of the interior ordered the integration of the "Assamiatif the Jewish high school" into the
National Association of Jews in Germany. The assets ofdbecetion (school) in the amount of
32,000 RM was transferred to the National Association.

End of December 1939 - beginning 1940,assets of nearly all Jewsihvingerth were placed under
security directive.

On December 31, 1939, the Jewish community counted only 623 members cotopamémbe
ship on January 1, 1939, with 975 members a reduction of 352 members whiah aténibhted to
the emigration of Jews from Fuerth.

The disbursements of the Jewish community in 1939 were:

For emigration and occupational changes RM 35,900

For social welfare and accommodation aid RM 75,700

For education purposes RM 44,000.

The assets of the Jewish community (without assets from endowments, assetschbbol and assets
of the Jewish orphanage), amounted on December 31, 1939 to RM 402,000.

1940

On January 1, 1940, the assistance bank of the union of Bavarian Jewrmshrates, of which the
community in Fuerth was a member, was dissolved.

For the year 1940, the following contributions had been decided on by therd&lassociation™:
30% from the Income tax or ¥ - 2% of total assets.

By a circular of the minister of economy from January 23, 1940, thierid& Association was niet
fied that Jews will no longer receive a clothing card andX&as will not be entitled to receive cou
pons for fabrics, shoes and material for soles. They were dalyesl a coupon for sewing materials
in the amount of RM 20,00 every three months. The supplying of Jewsakitics and shoes will
have to be looked after by the "National Association" by the afayutual help. By the order of the
National Association, clothing depots were established by therlacgnmunities in the German-do
main. A collection of clothing, underwear, linen, and shoes by the msmbé¢he communitye
sulted in a large enough inventory to open a clothing depot on March 11, 1940.



On May 19, 1940, a shoe repair work shop was added to the clothing depot. Tools atehaishoe
maker sewing machine was bought. A Jewish worker was employed who repaidedective shoes
for the clothing depot. The clothing depot was taken care of by volanie&l September 1942f-a
ter this time the clothing depot was taken care of by employees of the adatiregbost.
During the year 1940, in cooperation with the municipal housing office, sorgalled -Jews dwlel
ings- were rented to house Jewish families, who had to vacate their homes.

» Hindenburgstrasse 3 for 20 persons

» Adolf-Hitlerstrasse 32 for 5 persons

» Adolf-Hitlerstrasse 26 for 7 persons

* Holzackerstrasse 40 for 3 persons
The rental apartment building of Holzackerstrasse 40 and the prapekiydenstrasse 22 was sup
posed to be used as a Jewish residence. However, the cost f asghmaintenance of the house
were incomparably high. The use and operation of the heatingrsysté with difficulties and only
one family was housed there. Despite that, the property, for whidaai¢o pay only the housing
expenses and taxes was kept up by us until the emigration in ¥@4ehof the family living there,
also because it was situated right next to the city forgébtaMarge garden and we could use the ga
den as a play ground and physical exercise area for our school children.
Starting February 1940, the Jewish community administration in agréenith the Aryanization
office gave Jewish home owners, whose houses were administered anckathd®r selling by the
Aryanization office small monthly loans to secure their livelihdathey did not have any other-in
come or assets.
The Aryanization office at once notified the Jewish community effitthe sale of the property, so
that the community office could claim a refund. A refund for the lwas effected by the Aryaraz
tion office. In the case of subsequent denaturalization of the debiotifiaation to the financefo
fice in Berlin-Moabit is necessary.
On March 8, 1940, we sent as demanded to the Reich’s Kinship researattpi2ep for Jewish e
sons register in Germany, Berlin N 4, Oranienburgerstrasse 28- 73 remjidb@bks as follows:

» Birth register of the Jewish community Fuerth 1698 - 1876

» Circumcision register of the Jewish community Fuerth 1696 - 1812

» Marriage register of the Jewish community Fuerth 1781 - 1940

» Death register of the Jewish community Fuerth 1662 - 1876

* Protocol books of the Chewra Kadisha of the Jewish community Fuerth 1730 and 1785

* Memorial books of the Alt and Neuschule (Synagogues) of the Jewish community Fuerth

* Midwife register of the Jewish community Fuerth 1787 - 1804

* Membership register of the Jewish community Fuerth 1863

» Death register Alter Friedhof (Old cemetery) Jewish communitytRU&67 - 1927

e Cemetery register of the Jewish community Fuerth 1890 - 1928

e Extract from the register book of the Rezatkreises [old nant@eotral Franconia] city of

Fuerth 1819 and 1858

* Account book 18th century

» Testimony books 1812 - 1831

» Statute books Fuerth 1721

» Cemetery register Fuerth

* Register of graves of the new cemetery in Fuerth.
The following registration was also sent: Birth, marriage aradhdeegisters of the following Jewish
communities:
Baiersdorf, Bruck, Buechenbach, Diespeck, Erlangen, Markt Erlbachb&h, Kairlindach, Lan
genzenn, Neustadt, Pahres, Schnodsenbach, Scheinfeld, Schornweisach], W&blgsndorf, Wt
hermsdorf.
According to the order from the Bavarian state ministry forcation and religion, dated December



16, 1939, the private Jewish high school in Fuerth was dissolved, effective March 31, 1940.
The students of this school were transferred to the Jewish public school in Fuerth.

The school had to be closed due to low student volume.

In the time from April 1, 1940, to September 30, 1940, a curfew limited cheavimovements for
Jews from 9.00 PM to 5.00 AM.

During the course of the year 1940 almost all able bodied Jewishvorkad. They were employed
partly for road and underground work and partly in factories. The proemteof work for Jews was
difficult, because of existing regulations, that Jews had to beskpatrate from Aryan workers and
the factories lacked the appropriate space. Therefore, intordse all able bodied men, we freed up
two rooms on the property on the Blumenstrasse 31for work purposes. Wermggavoom to a toy
factory to install 4 presses and a lacquer shop. We gave anothetoradturemberg factory, which
manufactured electric heaters. The work consisted of coilingnigealements. The electric heater
factory employed about 10 Jewish workers. We made an agreemernhevithy factory to act as
agents and home work was accepted on behalf of people under our carevd lngse able to pro
vide work for about 20 Jewish men and women and also for elderly men, whwis¢hevould have
been a welfare burden.

The women worked only a short time for our agency, because dbeg imore profitable empje
ment in Nuremberg and Fuerth.

On August 12, 1940, the long distance telephone office in Nurembergllednak long distance
calls for Jews in Fuerth effective September 1, 1940. Exemptioresgrented only for Jewish con
sultants (Doctors), nurses, hospitals, Jews with foreign citizeastiigor the National Association
and its subordinate organizations.

The Jewish community office announced in a circular letter dateéroser 7, 1940, that members
of the community, who have to use the railway during the hours of 8.08ré\N6.00 AM (curfew
time), have to obtain a pass from the director of the Jewish community office.

Starting November 7,1940, the regular conducting of religious servicesday evening and Satu
day morning in the rear building of the property on the Blumensti@kgauditorium of the school)
was permitted by the secret state police. A liberal waligjiservice was conducted there until March
1942.

The nursing school of the Jewish community in Fuerth, BlumenstrassehRh is attached to the
Jewish hospital in Fuerth, Theaterstrasse 36 is recognized and subgeecditas a nursing school for
6 nursing students of the Jewish nursing sisterhood in the meaniagagfgph 4 of the first decree
regarding the professional exercise of nursing and the famatinursing schools (Nursing decree -
KrPfl.V - v. 28. 9. 1939 RGBI |, p 1310). The above is the outcome of a tdttecognition, dated
November 29,1940 on the bases of the Runderlass [decree], dated Octoberf@ri986 National
Minister of the Interior, through the provincial premier in Ansbadie hursing school accepted 6
nursing sister students, and on a temporary basis, 7 nursing sistents, some did emigrate, 4
nursing sister students graduated from the prescribed nursing cAwste examination could not
take place, because the examination date set by the provincraépne Ansbach conflicted with the
execution of a large emigration and only 2 student nurses remaittel iwspital. Through the se
ond decree for the execution of the decree to levy a social sgfi@ii tax, it was decided that the
rules for raising of a social equalization tax also applies to Jewsiedfdanuary 1, 1941.

Number of members of the Jewish community on December 31, 1940: 644. Ondee&. 1939:
623. An addition of: 21.

This inflow has to be attributed to the moving in of children from coucdmmunities, who were
unable to attend schools there and therefore had to be absorbed in tlen'shildme in Fuerth of
the National Association of Jews in Germany.

In the year 1940, the expenditures of the Jewish community among others were:

For costs of occupational changes and emigration: RM 8,000.00

For welfare: RM 94,600.00

For school purposes: RM 25,000.00



On December 31, 1940, the assets of the Jewish community amountedhtwi(witdowment assets,
assets of the school and the children’s home in Fuerth) RM 342,000.00.

1941

With a circular letter dated May 14, 1941, the National Associatifmmmed the district posts and
Jewish communities with under 1000 souls, that in the course of reorgamiaatl savings mea
ures, all Jewish communities with less than1000 souls will be ategfjinto the "National Assaei
tion". In individual locations, only authorized representatives of theidigiosts may continue to
carry out the local administrative activities. Because tasbecommunity in Fuerth consisted of
only 635 souls, it was affected by this measure; oral, or wridtgections against the integration
were not successful. In an additional circular letter from theaBan district post ,dated May
26,1941, we were informed, that as of June 1, 1941the chairman of our communily]iir Israel
Frueh as the authorized representative of the district post Bavagiaharged to continue to conduct
the business of the community in Fuerth.

In the course of these reorganizations and saving measures, th® gghect dues by the admsni
trative post Fuerth was revoked and transferred to the Bavari@ictdmst. The community was
only allowed to keep the most essential employees. The remaniptpyees were dismissed by
June 1 and July 1, or were retired. This included the rabbi of the aoityyDr. Behrens. Conside
able salary cuts measures were carried out.

It was also decreed in the above mentioned circular letter, xpanditures for Jewish culturat-a
tivities from public funds is not permitted. At a later point indjra fund from private donations was
established with the permission of the surveillance authoritiesh@ncutrency office in Nuremberg
(Jewish cultural account), from which the most urgent expenditurggdger services and funerals
were covered. An order issued by the National Association stias¢ss of the end of May 1941, the
education courses for adults, established and maintained by the I®mshunity, can not be
charged to the administrative post Fuerth. The Jewish public school moulthger employ the
handicraft teacher. The handicraft education was taken over by volunteers.

The decree about the integration of the Jewish community Fuertthetdational Association took
place on May 27,1941, on the basis of the 10th decree to the National &tizérom July 4, 1939
through the National Minister of the Interior. The cancellationhef ctommunity association in the
association register was implemented on September 12, 1941.

During May 1941 the transfer of the remaining assets of the Jeammunity in the amount of RM
330,000 was implemented. Apart from this amount, the National Association received:

Carry forward: RM 330,000

The assets of the Jewish high school association: RM 33,000

The assets of the Jewish orphanage in Fuerth RM 700,000

The assets from endowments in Fuerth RM 242,000

Total: RM 1,305,000

In the time from the 5th to the 8th of August 1941, the students of thétbtrgnd 7th grade of the
private Jewish public school helped to collect old materials frammsBiehouseholds, which was-o
dered by the authorities. The old material collections were codtionea monthly bases until the
closing of the school in March 1942.

A police order was issued on September 1, 1941, regarding a distingumsark for Jews (RGBI I,
p 547); accordingly it is not permitted for Jews, which have completed their 6th bitthbayseen in
public without a Jewish star [on their clothing.] Furthermore, acegrdaragraph 2 of this police
order, it is not permitted for Jews to leave the area of tl@muunity without carrying a written
permission issued by the local police authorities. Also, accordietpatise "b" of the paragraph 2 of
this regulation, Jews are no longer permitted to wear medalsiatiecs and other insignia. The-ci
ies of Fuerth and Nuremberg were declared as separate comsjwutisequently it was not poss



ble to enter the city of Nuremberg without permission from the police.

A regulation was issued on October 3, 1941 regarding the employm&awsf(RGBI I, p 675). On
October 31,1941 an order for the implementation of the regulation from @&ob@41, was issued
(RGBI I, p 681). In paragraph 11of the implementation order the work duties for Jevesldrassed.
According to a statistic of the administrative office, 170 Jews were getblun October 12, 1941.
On October 20, 1941,the administrative office in Fuerth establishaddéenclass food service pro
gram for the benefit of working Jews from Fuerth and as ageheedy Jews who are welfare cases.
The feeding also applied to Jews receiving welfare care. Thkenmentation of the meal program
was assigned to a Jewish restaurant, which applied certain conditis@sm meal was provided on
a daily bases with a charge of RM 10.00, 25.00, 35.00 up to RM 50.00 per meal hattith be
paid to the administrative office by the participants accortheg financial circumstances. Within a
short time 60 - 70 persons participated in this meal scheme. Hiemedasted until the March em
gration in 1942,

In a circular letter dated November 19, 1941, the administrativeeadfinounced, that according an
order by the authorities from November 21, 1941, the following objectstbave reported: Ty
writers, calculators, copy machines, bicycles, photo-film equipment and binoculars.

The 11th regulation to the national citizen law was published on Nove2dbd41, which dete
mined, that Jews who normally live in a foreign country, can not hauwadbecitizenship, therefore
they will lose the German citizenship when the regulation bectamew/hile they live in a foreign
country, or they take up habitual residence in a foreign countrydatéwith the relocation of hali
ual residence in a foreign country”. With the loss of citizendingpaissets of the emigrant are-fo
feited to the state. By this law, all Jews who have emigrated so far have ilo&direan citizenship.
On November 27,1941, the first emigration of Jews from Fuerth took pladbe order of the
authorities. Together with a transport from Nuremberg 94 people fuamb~were included for em
gration to Riga, amongst them 7 employees of the administi@fice in Fuerth, 1 employee of the
administration, one teacher (female), 3 hospital employees, 1 ctsldreme trainee, 1 retiredrpe
son (female).

The administrative office made all necessary preparationtidoernigration order issued by the s
cret state police, to furnish all necessities for the emigramd to put helpers at their disposal. A
sewing room was established in the school building, in which rucksacks, fuwsoagismen, mittens,
pouches, bread bags, muffs etc. were sewn together. One work groufesigizated to mark the
luggage, another work group to weigh the pieces of luggage, and a third groupdibcestkn items
and food designated as "Ghetto commodity”. Apart from the persaygdde of up to 50 kg inav
lises and hand luggage, the transport was supplied with a collecétte gbllection gear consisting
of: 1 large cooking cauldron, mattresses, iron and paraffin stowesjgsenachines, all kinds of
tools, glass and putty, groceries for 8 days, which was supplemantind food office in Fuerth,
also laundry and cleaning materials, bandages and medicines, asweddical instruments from
the inventory of the hospital. The emigrants were collected on Nared 1941 by the secret state
police from their homes and brought to the Langwasser assenmbly icaNuremberg, where 1o
gether with the Nuremberg emigrants were cared for by thesldeeommunity in Nuremberg until
their evacuation. The luggage of the emigrants was moved yifgcthe freight forwarder into the
evacuation camp and was put under control there. The freight forwarder then broughtiit th the
train. Several helpers from Fuerth were assigned by us to work daily in theuottsnoamp.

In order to finance the transport, the administrative office in Fuertluatstt the 94 emigrants to pay
into the "W" account of the Bavarian state bank, which was specralated for this purpose in the
amount of RM 17,560. The cost of the emigration amounted to RM 8,658,15. The baiende
posited to the "W" account of the Bavarian district office of Wational Association of Jews in
Germany, Munich.

In a circular letter dated December 1,1941, the National Asswciar Jews in Germany made pub
lic under instruction from the surveillance authorities, that daegorically prohibited for Jews to
dispose of their movable assets. In special cases, disposaleroasribd out with the permission of



the secret state police The administrative office Fuerth otligtect office Bavaria established an
application office, which was assigned to examine and forwardcagiphs for disposal applications
for the whole of Central Franconia and Upper Franconia.

On the order of the secret state police, the Fuerth administodtize made public in a circular letter
dated December 9, 1941, that all Jews living in Fuerth, who are @dig@aicarry the star of David,
have to report all commodities in their possession. Subject fatr@gon are: Furniture, linens, bed
dings, clothing articles and individual personal items. 260 reportsfasvarded via the administr
tive office on December 15,1941.

The Synagogue in the Jewish hospital was closed during December IP#tie @struction of the
National Association, this room was used to place further hospisl B=cause larger renovation
work could not be carried out , this room was occupied by palliative care patients.

1942

The Fuerth administrative office published in a circular lettefamfuary 9,1942 the following order
received by the National Association from the surveillancbaaiites: Jews, who are obligated to
carry the Kennzeichen [identifying badge] are prohibited from using pul#ightehe facilities.

The administrative post in Fuerth published in a circular letten fdanuary 13,1942 the following
order issued by the secret state police: All Jews obligedrty the identifying badge, must by Janu
ary 15, 1942 deliver to the administrative post in Fuerth all fur and ek, skies, ski shoes and
alpine shoes [climbing shoes].

The following items were delivered: 377 furs, 42 fur coats, 9 fur jacketsir3tafs, 7 fur vests, 6 fur
blankets, 4 sport furs, 1 pair fur lined boots, 6 pair fur lined gloves aff$,n379 assorted pelts,
1047 wool items, 7 ski items.

In a circular letter dated January 9, 1942 the administrative post publibheeffective immediately
the emigration consulting service is discontinued.

In its Jewish communication sheet # 7 dated February 13, 1942, the Natssoalation points out,
that according an official order it is prohibited to lodge requastispetitions, especially petitions for
mercy on the bases of paragraph 7 of the first decree of th@damperial citizen dated November
14, 1935, which must first be checked by the national association fosslitity. The examination
and forwarding of applications to the office for foreign curreatgertain requests from the Jewish
communities in Middle and Upper Franconia, as well requests frompiher Palatine and from all
other districts under the control of the foreign currency officBlunemberg (except requests from
Nuremberg) were later transferred to the administrative office in Fuerth.

In a circular letter dated February 28, 1942 the Fuerth admiistfice announced, that only the
administrative offices of the National Association, consultantgsipians and dentists are entitled to
receive delivery of newspapers by the post office and futead llletins should be announced in a
suitable form.

With an order by the authorities from March 24, 1942, the second migration [deportatiagmiad
out, 237 persons had to participate in this migration [deportation] taalaiPoland, amongst them
all 8 employees of the children's home in Fuerth, 10 employebs dttvish hospital in Fuerth and 1
janitor of the administrative office.

To aid the migrants [deportees], the same support service as oncion of the first migration
[deportation] in November 1941was set up. The migrants were giveggade allowance of 50 kg
for suit cases as well as hand luggage, consisting either akgpbak or nap sack. As well, ,roe
munity shared luggage was provided , which this time only containedofoedion. The municipal
food office in Fuerth supplied the migrants with additional provisions for several haysance the
transport, the migrants had to contribute according their means amtof at least 25% of their
assets. The participants of the transport from Fuerth paidlaotd®M 147,606 into the speciata
count "W" of the Bayerische Staatsbank [Bavarian State Bariijenth, from which the cost of RM



18,835 of this migration [deportation] was covered. The balance wasnpaithe special account
"W" of the district office of the National Association of Jews in GermarMunich.

After the migration [deportation], the children's home of the dvaii Association of Jews in Ge
many was dissolved, because all pupils, whose parents did not liverth, huere sent back and the
remaining orphans with the management and staff joined the tran&paatresult of the migration
[deportation] of nearly all school children, only three school childrem fErlangen and three thi
dren from Fuerth remained behind. The Jewish elementary school th Radrto close. Children of
school age had to go to the Jewish elementary school in Nuremberggltbiol was also closed on
June 30, 1942.

The city school board bought the total inventory of the Jewish schoélsarth for the amount of
RM 700.00 and took possession in 1943.

The Jewish news letter from April 3,1942 published an order receivéldebMational Association
from the surveillance authorities, whereby as of April 15, 1942 Jewish home ownesendidiged
to carry the identification badge, must also identify their howidsa star of David, printed in black
on white paper.

The administrative office Fuerth conveyed in a circular ldtan April 15, 1942, the followingre
der received by the National Association from the surveillanteoaties: Jews, who are obliged to
carry the identification badge, are prohibited from using publrspartation within the area of their
habitation without the written permission of the local police authodnder certain conditions, it
was possible for Jews who belonged to the work force, school childdetiogtors to receive official
permission to use public transportation within the area of their domicile.

The Jewish hostel in the Lindenstrasse 22 was vacated on April 27, 1832 3till living there
were placed in Jew houses.

On April 24,1942, four Jewish persons from Fuerth were attached to tratiom [deportation]
transport from Wuerzburg (Transport to Krasniczyn). The administratfice Fuerth conveyed in a
circular letter dated May 18, 1942 the following order by the sllmwmee authorities, which was
published in the Jewish newsletter by the National AssociationIpadews who are obliged to
carry the identification badge, are not permitted to keep donsestitals, Jews who still are in go
session of domestic animals at the time of this order, will have to surrender them

The administrative office Fuerth conveyed in a circular letanfMay 28, 1942, the following order
received by the National Association from the surveillanckaities: Jews who are obliged to carry
the identification badge are not permitted to avail themselves of the sevee#ryan hairdresser.
With the permission of the authorities a senior home was estabish&une 1, 1942 in the property
of the National Association located in the Julienstrasse 2 (fyrrmakildren’'s home of the National
Association). All elderly married couples and single personklisiihg in Fuerth, moved to the
home, thus freeing a great number of dwellings. From now on, only tredled tJew houses" were
occupied by Volljuden [full Jews]. The senior home of the "Nationaolmtion of Jews in Ge
many" housed up to 45 occupants, but under the terms prescribed for senisrldyotihe National
Association. The senior home was operated by the National Aseacuattil September 10, 1942,
when most of its occupants had to migrate [were deported].

The administrative office Fuerth issued a circular letterume 10, 1942, in which, on the instruction
of the city of Fuerth, the demand was made to the Jewish poputditfeuerth to hand over to our
administrative office all dispensable knit wear, shirts, underwear and clothing.

After the completion of the collection, the administrative post delt/¢o the secret state police on
June 18, 1942 the following: 242 pieces of men’s clothing, 213 pieces of wouniethisng, 1251
pieces of old knit wear (assorted underwear and shirts, socks etc.), wastalsnhigoy diapers etc.
In a circular letter the administrative office Fuerth publishelirective by the surveillance authority,
with the demand that Jewish national subjects and stateless Jewsigatfieg of paragraph 5 of the
first decree of the national citizens law from November 14, 1988(R, p 1933) have to hand over
to the administrative office Fuerth the following items in tipgissessions: Electrical devices, record
players and records, typewriters, bicycles and optical devices.



The following items were delivered to our collection point to bevéwded to the secrete state police:
57 electric laundry irons, 9 electric heating plates, 29 eleptis, 24 electric heaters, 17 electric
vacuum cleaners, 6 electric dryers, 46 electric heating padsc@Bietoasters, 1 electric washing
machine, 8 electric assorted devices, 5 record players, 50 recotgpe2driters, 5 assorted devices,
7 bicycles, 12 cameras, 1 projector, 36 binoculars and opera glasses, 2 light meters.

Several applicants who required electrical appliances for urgaithheasons, were permitted to
keep the electrical devices. As well, a few laundry irons \atosved to be kept by the adminestr
tive office to be loaned to members.

The National Association conveyed in a circular letter from Ael942, the following orderer
ceived from the surveillance authorities, whereby all Jewish sshablbe closed by June 30, 1942.
A further order states that after the closing of the schdwdsst¢hooling of Jewish children by aal
ried or unpaid teachers is prohibited and tuition in private circles is prohibited.

On the instruction from the Nuremberg secret state police Nurgmibe Fuerth administrative-o
fice demanded in a circular letter dated July 24, 1942 from aB§ lewvg in Fuerth who still own fur
items, even fur pieces of the smallest size to be handed overndhhiaistrative office Fuerther
ported to the secrete state police on August 5, 1942 the collectionscdrfd fur pieces with a net
weight of 23,900 kg, which together with the furs collected by thesBecommunity Nuremberg are
ready for delivery.

With a circular letter, dated August 13, 1942, the administrativieeoiih Fuerth published an -an
nouncement received by the National Association issued the s&teepolice, stating the following:
It is objectionable that Aryan domestic employees still livthvand are employed by Jews. Jews
affected by this announcement are called upon to discharge their Aryan domgdtigees.

The administrative office in Fuerth announced in a circular |etit@ied August 14, 1942, that-a
cording to a directive from the secret state police a furtheérgaad collection will be carried out.
All knit goods items are subject to surrender, except in thepmrsenal use. On August 24, 1942,
the following was delivered by the administrative post in Fuerth: k§8ihen, 505 kg clothing, 234
kg rags.

On August 4, 1942, the director of the Fuerth administrative officeived a notification from the
secret state police, stating that for the end of August, begir8eptember 1942, an emigratiom-[d
portation] transport to Theresienstadt for all Jews from Fuerthambaver 65 years is scheduled.
The final date was fixed for September 10, 1942.

As in previous emigrations, the Fuerth administrative post immégiatganized a support , avge
ing room was established, in which rucksacks, bread bags, chest pamchmitts were sewn. The
support service also received the assignment to support the enmgeaety aspect such as packing
and settling their affairs.

On the order of the National Association, the Fuerth administratigé had to rapidly prepare an
application to live in an home in Theresienstadt for all persons seuethuemigrate [be deported]
and owning assets over RM 1000. Also, work to fill out application foonshie homes in Ther
sienstadt had to be completed in advance. Consequently, a total of 4&tsoweee closed and
transfers in the amount of about RM 900,000to the account of the Natiormadias® was agreed
to, including RM 37,000 deposits to the "W" account to finance the transports.

After an air raid, we received an order from the secrét gtalice, that in the course of the day the
homes of the emigrants have to be vacated by August 31, 1942, becdtess slexe needed for
people with damaged homes. These emigrants [deportees] with akrthigration luggage, includ
ing mattresses will be quartered in the old age home in thenswéese and also temporarily in the
Jewish hospital. In order to keep the required dead line, the adatinistoffice had to organize a
pick-up service for people and luggage, thus it became possible femigeants and luggage to be
ready by August 31. By August 31, a total of 130 people were housed in thgedhdme in the Jul
enstrasse. They were cared for there until their emigration [deportation].

The old age home became an evacuation camp under the controlsettiestate police and a SS
security detail.



Luggage control and body searches took place in the synagogue [JaitmeiWaisenschul” or ©
phans synagogue), which was cleared for this purpose. The evadoakqgpiace in the morning of
September 10, 1942, using 4 motor buses of the Nuremberg-Fuerth stre@mhpany, going direct
to the Finkenstrasse train station. The director of the Fuertmestrative office Fuerth was present
when the emigrants [deportees] were placed in railway passesageand the support service which
was appointed by the administrative office in Fuerth, delivered the hand luggage.
On September 9, 1942 handicapped emigrants [deportees] from Fuertiramspoited with two
furniture vans to a previously designated camp in the Knauersiradderemberg. The necessary
doctor and nursing service was provided by the Jewish hospital in Fuerth.
During the trip the sick people were looked after by a nurse from the Jewish hiosBitatth.
On September 10, 1942, 159 Jews emigrated [were deported] from Fuertfuathéra6 Jews from
out of town joined the transport in Fuerth. The following was provided in the common luggage:

1. Supplementary food for 8 days with the approval of the food office.

2. Reserve food from the emigrants [deportees], which was collected by the ketsvor

3. House and kitchen utensils

4. Washing material

5. Mattresses
Furthermore, the emigrants [deportees] were able to take with them:

For travel luggage, either a handy carry-on luggage or a strong, fully packsdck.

1 bread bag or tote bag as hand luggage

1 roll of 1-2 wool blankets.
The transport costs amounted to RM 13.353,51; the balance of the rpegdpis by the emigrants
[deportees] into the "W" account of the Bayerische Staatsbank nthRuas transferred to theesp
cial "H" account of the Bavarian district office of the NatioAasociation of Jews in Germany-lo
cated in Munich.
Five employees of the Jewish hospital, 2 assistant workers aflthmistrative office and 2 pension
ers of the National Association were attached to the emigration [deportatiospirt.
"The Old Age home in Fuerth of the National Association of JemGarmany" was dissolved, as
most old age home occupants emigrated [were deported] on September 10, 1942.
With the permission of the secret state police and the municipainigooBice in Fuerth, a Jewish
hostel was established on October 1, 1942, in the home of the property on Julienstrasse 2.
The operation of the Jewish hospital was also kept up after theagiomgideportation], even though
a great portion of its ailing patients were attached to tmspat. Left in the hospital after Septe
ber 10,1942 were: 11 patients, which could not be transported, including 5 dewsuerth. It lb-
came evident in the aftermath, that the Jewish hospital, whitisdtme is the only Jewish hospital
in South Germany is still viable. The house (hospital) was fultppied, therefore no subsidies for
the operating costs was necessatry.
On September 15, 1942, the following were present in Fuerth: 30 dewsrfixed marriages (20
from privileged mixed marriages, 10 from common mixed marriage§geRungsjuden” [descen
dant of a mixed marriage, who adheres to the Jewish religion], Rlefus [Volljuden], 1 foreign
Jewess (English) for a total of 55 Jews. 5 persons from Eramd® on the order of the secret state
police were sent to Fuerth on August 25, 1942. On September 15, 1942, tresilveéd Jews in
Fuerth.
On September 23, 1942 the administrative office Fuerth receivedsageesom the secret state-po
lice, that the Jewish hostel (previously Jewish old age home) ¢sthblished in the Julienstrasse 2
will have to place Jews from Nuremberg and Bamberg.
4 Jewish persons from Bamberg moved on September 29, 1942 to the hostel in the Julienstrasse 2.
The Jewish hostel was opened on October 1, 1942, also the 22 Jews, whepeetexddn October
6, 7 and 8 from Nuremberg found shelter in the Jewish hostel. On Dec2hhEd42, a further 2
Jewish women moved from Bamberg [to the hostel]. On October 22,1942, teevilastoccupied
by 37 persons. The occupation number by end of December was 41 persongst€Ehbas a ¢co-



mon kitchen, because the regular kitchen is to small. The hostargirng a fee to take care of the
renters and has to be self sufficient.

On the instructions of the surveillance authorities from October 7, 18d2\ational Association
made it known that the purchase of books by Jews is not permittecdb@oknstores, only from the
book distribution department of the National Association of Jews in Germany.

On December 22,1942 ,pursuant to the demand by the National Associatisentwid crates with
clothing and linen to the clothing depot of the Jewish community itinBewhich were designated
to be forwarded to Theresienstadt. A further 21 hampers with chgdiething and children's linens
was made ready for shipping to the National Association at their direction.

On December 31,1942, there were still in Fuerth: 38 Jewish men, 4hJeonsen, [a total of] 85
Jews. In addition 2 Jewesses, Glaubensgenossen [Converts to Judaism]. The 85 Jeads@onsist

[total] male female
Jews from privileged mixed ma 16 7 9
riages
Jews from ordinary mixed marriages 13 10 3
foreigners 3 1 2
Geltungsjuden 3 2 1
full Jews 50 18 32
[total] 85 38 47

To establish the Jewish population for 1933, the key date would be June 30, 1930 skdws
about the same values.
The Jewish population on June 30, 1930 about 2,335
* Moved about 377
* Emigrated about 213
* Migrated about 494
* Arrested about 4
» Left the Jewish community about 4
Jewish population of Fuerth on December 31, 1942 85
Jews from other places, which on the order of the secret state police had to movehto Fuert
e Moved from Erlangen 5
* Moved from Bamberg 6
* Moved from Nuremberg 22
e Taken in from Bayreuth 1
e [Total] 34
At the completion of this chronicle on March 31, 1943, 83 Jews weréwstii in Fuerth, including
the 34 Jews admitted to Fuerth from other places. The breakdown is:

total full Jews from mixed Geltungsjuden foreigners valid Jews
marriages
14 yrs and 6 4 - 2 - -
less
14 - 55 yrs 38 27 9 1 1 -
55 - 65 yrs 16 9 6 - 1 -
over 65 yrs 23 8 14 - 1 -

[total] 83 48 29 3 3 -



In addition:

arrested 4 3 1 - - -
Jews

valid Jews 2 - - - - 2
of Aryan

race

[total] 89 51 30 3 3 2

The following institutions and properties belonged to the Fuerth administrative: offic
1) The property in Fuerth, Theaterstrasse 36
The Jewish hospital, which functioned fully as the only Jewish hospitsbuthern Germany and
also took care of out of town patients.
Still employed in the Jewish hospital:

1 salaried nurse

1 salaried cook

1 volunteer orderly

2 volunteer nurses aids

1 volunteer house keeper

1 volunteer manager
2) The property in Fuerth, Julienstrasse 2
The Jewish hostel, which housed 41 persons. employed the following workers:

1 female manager

1 caretaker

1 female cook
All other household chores were carried out by the residents.
3) The property in Fuerth, Blumenstrasse 31, (formerly the school)
This property housed as well the offices and clothing depot of thenathative office, also rooms
for Jews living in mixed marriages. In addition, 3 previous classraeens designated for the use of
the city of Fuerth and the finance office of the city of Hueet store furniture and other objects of
furnishings. The work in the administrative office was carried out by:

The honorary director

1 employee

1 full time employed and unpaid assistant

1 assistant looking after burial matters and sundry jobs.
One part of the residual items of furnishings of the formddi@m and senior home of the National
Association of Jews in Germany was given to the occupants déthieh shelter, and another part to
be used in the Jewish hostel, and the balance of the inventory wasawaldble for use in the Jul
enstrasse 2 and Blumenstrasse 31.

1943

The administrative office Fuerth still had the obligation to carry out the foigpassignments:
* The settling of the current administrative and statistical work.
* The administration and utilization of the inventory on hand.
e To supply the Jewish inhabitants of Fuerth with knitting materiads slhoe wares from the
clothing depot and the administration of the clothing depot.
* The supervision and administration of the Jewish hospital and the Jewish hostel in Fuerth.
» To effect burial procedures.

» Execution of orders from the authorities: Secret state police,cipahihousing office, mu
nicipal office for economy.



* Unemployment office Nuremberg-Fuerth in Fuerth.

« Communications with the authorities, including the foreign exchangeeatfiidNuremberg
and the Aryanization office for real estates in Nuremberg.

* To distribute information to the authorities, finance offices and baggecially about em
grated and migrated Jews, who previously lived in Fuerth.

Fuerth, March 31, 1943
Supplement to the story of the Jews in Fuerth / Bavaria 1943
In the frame work of the dissolution of the National AssociatioreafsJin Germany, the adminiatr
tive office in Fuerth was also dissolved and the assets of thiendlaAssociation situated in Fuerth
were confiscated. The premises of the office were sealed.
All Jews still living in Fuerth, except Jews living or those wdneviously lived in mixed marriages
emigrated [were deported] on June 17, 1943 partly to Theresienstadt, partly tstthe ea
The Jewish hospital and the hostel in the Julienstrasse 2 weed.dkifly persons from Fuerth were
picked for the purpose of emigration [deportation], namely 21 persons foesldrestadt and 29 pe
sons for the east. From the latter, 2 persons avoided emigratieschge. Nine persons from MNu
emberg and several persons from other communities in the district joined this transpor
The persons who became homeless due to the closing of the holseeluliénstrasse 2 and thesho
pital were housed in the Blumenstrasse 31 [school building]. AmongstwasnMr. Josef Pachter,
who was a patient in the hospital and who used to live in Nuremberg.
The settlement of general affairs took place in Fuerth byl@ius Nuernberger from Nuremberg,
who was appointed by the secret state police as trustee.dH&adsn contact with the still existing
administration of the National Association of Jews in Germanygihwivias responsible for the lwe
fare of destitute Jews and for the possible admittance to wishJeospital in Berlin for the sick or
Jews in need of an operation.
The following persons living in Fuerth died in 1943: 3 in the concentradorp Auschwitz, namely
1 living in an ordinary mixed marriage and 2 living in privileged mixed marriages.
The doctor of the Jewish hospital, Dr. Leo Daniel, who escaped fronepwtation to the east on
June 17, 1943, was caught by the police and committed suicide on Augus8@29943 in the court
of justice prison in Fuerth. He was buried in the Jewish cemgtdfyerth. Fanny Loewenthal, an
English citizen was taken to an internment camp.
On December 31, 1943, 30 Jews were still living in Fuerth, namely:

18 persons of male sex

12 persons of female sex

In ordinary mixed marriage 12 persons, of these 9 male and 3 female.

In privileged mixed marriage 15 persons, of these 7 male and 8 female.

Geltungsjuden 3 persons, of these 2 male and 1 female.
The following table contains information about the structure by age:

age total ordinary mixed ma  privileged mixed Geltungsjuden
riage marriage

m f m f m f
under 14 1 1
yrs
14 - 55 9 2 - 2 3 1 1
yrs
55 - 65 7 2 2 2 1 - -
yrs
over 65 13 5 1 3 4 - -
yrs
total 30 9 3 7 8 2 1

[The grading of mixed marriages and children of such marriages is atsepad complex matter.]




Willie Glaser: The "final solution" for the Jewish community in Fuerth

It took the Gestapo apparatus ten years, from 1933 - 1943 to liquidateviral hundred year old
Jewish community of Fuerth.

In order to fully understand the "Final solution of the Jewish quesftemdloesung der Judenfrage)
and its devastating impact on the Jewish community in Fuerthmipsrtant to establish a brief bu
line of the bureaucratic path taken by Hitler and his directilo@grig from him to Hermann Goe
ing, whom he gave extensive powers to plan and facilitate extnetmé&eavish measures in coordin
tion with high ranking functionaries of the party and the leadership of the SS.

In July 1941, Reinhard Heydrich, the head of the RSHA, Reich’s MaiariBe Office (Reichss
cherheitshauptamt), obtained from Hermann Goering, the authorizatiooceegrwith the format
tion of an overall blue print for "The Final Solution" a code name for "Industrladdibf Jews".

The first deportation of Jews from Fuerth was carried out in Nbeerh941. This deportation was
only a warm up for the genocidal killing machine. Initial plansth@se measures were formulated in
January 1942 at the macabre Wannsee conference initiated by Reinhard Heydrich.

It took only ninety minutes for the officials of the various ministries @8destablishments invited by
Reinhard Heydrich to discuss and plan the implementation of the 'Sahalion of the Jewish gee
tion"”, which in reality meant the death sentence for millions of Jews.

The speed in which these plans were drafted should not be a yn@ades Hitler invested a lot of
brain power, seven of the 15 signatories to the protocol were PmO&f tBe signatories were high
ranking SS officers.

The Jewish humanity of Fuerth did not stand a chance, they had to sf@edhiy onslaught by the
SS and its components against their existence. Understandablyutred teme of the chronicles of
the Hitler years as compiled by Miss Grete Ballin for @estapo can not tell the dramatic story of
Jewish life in Fuerth during these oppressive war years. On Juri®44, Miss Grete Ballin was
deported to Auschwitz, she perished there.

On a personal note | have endeavoured to relate to this tragid fgriportraying what | think was
my mothers and fathers role during this very difficult period inr tihhees. My mothers and her dhi
dren lived in Fuerth (see Jewish life in Fuerth 1939 - 1943: The chesro€imy mother Adele @l
ser), my fathers life in Paris (see The tragic odyssefferdinand Glaser: The chronicles of the
search for the fate of my father in France 1939 - 1943) were ihahds of the Gestapo and SS.
These two organizations constituted the main gears for the engyematide, which was well oiled
for the "Endloesung” or "final solution”.

For the Nazi bureaucracy, deportations and eliminations of Jewsibecaere administrative tra
ter, which had to be organizationally prepared and governed by regulations.

Examples of this deadly bureaucracy are the attached Gestapoatds under Anatomy and lsgi
tics of the Fuerth deportations.

One of the very few localities where Gestapo files surviveVugrzburg. To day the Staatsarchiv
Wouerzburg [State archives] holds many Gestapo documents, whiclofieials failed to destroy in
their haste to get out of town as American troops were about to enter the city.

In my research into the deportations of members of my fanbgchme aware of deportation train
manifests always showing the number of deportees on the train aslf0® persons. It seems the
Gestapo and the German railway was comfortable with this figure.

A notable example are the deportation trains from France to Polanteredrfrom 1-77, each train
holding some 1000 Jews. Which means from March1942 to August 1944 the GeamhaayR
moved some 75,700 Jews from France to Poland, mostly to Auschwitz.

This was the case with the deportations from Fuerth. In eveneestthe Gestapo collected some
1000 Jews from towns such as Nuremberg, Fuerth, Wuerzburg and Bamlzeaypllection train
[Sammelzug / transport] to destinations such as Riga, Izbica, Krasniczyn aedidingadt.
Deportation trains of the Deutsche Reichsbahn (DRB), German Railway angdgside lines.

This is a selection of several Gestapo documents relating totamoitrains. Gestapo document #
53 relates to the deportation of March 23, 1942, in which Jews from keN@swere collected on



one deportation train, destination Izbica.

The attached Gestapo document # 117 shows the route taken by the deportation trainddA2&) A
1942, final destination Krasniczyn. [This train number supplied by &tateves Wuerzburg]. &
stapo document # 283 confirms the departure of transport train DA 4@&pGekicument # 35 iden
tifies the Wuerzburg transport as GZ [Gueterzug] 6610, frergint and GZ 6842 from Bamberg,
this train number was changed to GZ 6604 in document # 41. It is diffittiis point in time to
figure out why a "GZ" indicator was applied.

The above examples of trains and train designations are meamovtotise involvement of "Die
Deutsche Reichsbahn”, the German railway with the HolocaustisTbrdy a very brief overview of
the massive support given by the German railway to the extatiom process, in this case the Jews
from Fuerth.

Inspite of the very heavy war time demands on the rolling stickee German railway, the German
railway was able to provide transports for thousands of Germantdethie concentration camps,
business had to be conducted, even if it was not the right commercial commodity.

The German railway asked for and received their pound of flesh. RBenggotiated a deal with the
Gestapo regarding payments for the deportation transports, whidb badoaid into a special bank
account by the deportees. Cynically, the fare was a group xatesmen fare, a one way ticket. This
was the contribution of the DRB to the "Himmelfahrt fuer die JudarGestapo and SS jargon for
“final journey to the heaven for the Jews " (see The chronicles of my mother Gldeler).

For the first deportation from Fuerth to Riga in November 1941 the @eraiavay used regular
passenger cars, 3rd class. this was confirmed to me by Haeddner a Riga transport Holocaust
survivor. Further research brought out the fact, that the DRB usedllackkcontrolled passenger
cars while travelling in Germany. while deportation trains outieeborders of Germany consisted
of freight cars.

The reason is obvious, Nazi leadership avoided the scenes of misefyegiht train overcrowded
with Jews to be witnessed by the greater German population. $dgrod convinced me, that the
authorities did not completely succeed with this effort. To stétt, wleportation trains had a low
priority. By necessity the DRB had to give priority to mijtaand armament shipments. Deportation
trains were shunted to sidings to let high priority trains paas tonvinced, that many people from
the civilian population looked at these trains.

A great number of German railway officials and workers werectly involved or had seen the-d
portation trains. | am just wondering what did a railway work#rhis family in the privacy of their
homes?

Holocaust survivor Harold Reissner from Fuerth states in his vigeoitderview with the Steven
Spielberg project: "We were loaded on open trucks and driven toathgwlasser camp in Nure
berg."

The shortest route, about 10-12 km from Fuerth to Nuremberg is along the Nuestbesger which
changes to the Fuertherstrasse at the city border Fuerth/Nuremiengpimt is, that many people on
the street must have seen the trucks guarded by the SS addvith Jews who were wearing a star
of David (Davidstern) on their clothing.

A factor of the great sufferings by the deportees fromtRumust have been the long durations of
their journey to the various concentration camps, such as Riga,, |[Kvasniczyn, Theresienstadt
and Auschwitz. In Gestapo document # 117, the travel time for the deportransport of April
25th, 1942 is given as over three days.

The Jews from Fuerth demonstrated an extraordinary courage duringpthaeys into a hellish
unknown. Harold Reissner, a survivor assured me of the steadfastrieespebple on the train to
Riga. The deportees from Fuerth expected to be umgesiedetti¢dssomewhere, they knew they
are going to have to face some stark realities at thetindgsn. Their wishful thinking made them
believe they will have to work for the German war effort. Thsught was reinforced by the sele
tion of common Ghettogut (ghetto commodities) such as cooking cauldremsnd paraffin ovens
(probably portable), mattresses, sewing machines and a selectmyisofsee Instruction of thees



stapo for the first deportation of Franconian Jews on November 29, 1941 to Riga-Jungfernhof).
German railways acknowledged its role in the transport ofangliof Jews to the death camps, as its
chairman laid the foundation for a memorial at the main deportatatiorsin Berlin: "What happens
in the 12 years between 1933 and 1945 is an irrevocable part of the bistiogyrailway just as it is

of German history," said Heinz Duerr, chairmen of the nationilay company Deutsche Bahn
AG. "Based on this, we have the duty to do whatever is possible te ithssitype of contempt for
humanity never again has a chance on German soil or in our company".

This account is written for the sake of the innoceinJewish souls of Fuerth.
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